
 TOWN OF LEDYARD 741 Colonel Ledyard Highway 

 CONNECTICUT Ledyard, CT  06339 

 TOWN COUNCIL  

 HYBRID FORMAT towncouncil@ledyardct.org 
                       860 464-3203 

  Roxanne Maher 

Chairman Gary St. Vil MINUTES Administrative Assistant 

FINANCE COMMITTEE  
REGULAR MEETING 

  

Wednesday,  September 3, 2025     5:00 PM Annex Meeting Room - Video Conference  

 

AS/rm  Finance Committee – September 4, 2025   
 Page 1 of 19  

    

DRAFT 
I. CALL TO ORDER - The Meeting was called to order by Committee Chairman 

Councilor Saccone at 5:00 p.m. at the Council Chambers Town Hall Annex Building.   
 

Councilor Saccone welcomed all to the Hybrid Meeting. He stated for the Town Council 
Finance Committee and members of the Public who were participating via video 
conference that the remote meeting information was available on the Agenda that was 
posted on the Town’s Website – Granicus-Legistar Meeting Portal. 
 

II. ROLL CALL  

 
 
III. RESIDENTS AND PROPERTY OWNERS COMMENTS -None. 
 
IV. PRESENTATIONS/INFORMATIONAL ITEMS 

 
 Ledge Light Health District Ledyard Prevention Coalition Senior Health Program 

Coordinator Kerensa Mansfield  and Jennifer Muggeo, Director of Health 
 
Ms. Jennifer Muggeo, Ledge Light Health District Director of Health thanked the 
Finance Committee for the opportunity to address them this evening to talk about how to 
activate funds Ledyard has received from the National Opioid Settlement. She provided 
some background noting that Ledyard Prevention Coalition was a multi-sector group 
comprised of Ledyard community members, parents, students, businesses, the school 
district and the Mayor’s Office to strengthen protective factors and reduce risk factors 
mostly related to Youth Substance Use. She stated with Ledyard allocating $36,100 
from their National Opioid Settlement Funding at their September 27, 2023 meeting, 
that during the last 18-months the Ledyard Prevention Coalition has been able to: 
 
 

Attendee Name Title Status Location Arrived Departed  
Jessica Buhle Town Councilor Present In-Person 5:00 pm 6:05 pm 
Tim Ryan Town Councilor Present In-Person 5:00 pm 6:05 pm 
Tony Saccone Town Councilor Present In-Person 5:00 pm 6:05 pm 
Fred Allyn, III Mayor Present In-Person 5:00 pm 6:05 pm 
James Mann Director Emergency Services/Fire Marshal Present Remote 5:00 pm 5:43 pm 
Kerensa Mansfield Ledge Light Health District  Senior Health Program Coordinator Present In-Person 5:00 pm 6:05 pm 
Jen Muggeo Ledge Ligh Health District Director of Health Present In-Person 5:00 pm 6:05 pm 
Roxanne Maher Administrative Assistant Present Remote 5:00 pm 6:05 pm 



AS/rm  Finance Committee –September 3, 2025 
  Page 2 of 19  

 
 Saturate the community with Naloxone/Narcan 
 Raise awareness of the Opioid Epidemic  
 Reduce the stigma associated with individuals coming forward and looking for 

support to address their Opioid Use 
 Increase awareness of evidence-based  treatment for Opioid Use Disorder  
 Provide multiple trainings to community groups, businesses, and individuals to 

recognize and response to overdose 
 
Ms. Muggeo stated that she and Ms. Mansfield were present this evening to request 
additional allocations from Ledyard’s National Opioid Settlement Funding to allow the 
Ledyard Prevention Coalition to continue their work to protect and promote the health in 
Ledyard.  
 
Councilor Saccone questioned the number of trainings and interventions the Ledyard 
Prevention Coalition has provided to Ledyard and the number of overdoses that have 
occurred in their community during the last  18-months.  
 
Ms. Kerensa Mansfield, Ledge Light Senior  Health Program Coordinator, addressed 
Councilor  Saccone’s question noting that during the past 18 months Ledge Light Health 
District used the funding that Ledyard provided as follows: : 
 
 Worked with NLC Coordinated Access Resources Engagement & Support (CARES) 

Program Peer Navigators providing trainings to nearly 200 people at both of 
Ledyard’s Libraries, Ledyard Senior Citizens Center, Town Council, Ledyard 
Middle School and High School Staff; United Way, Ledyard Lions, and the Ledyard 
Police Department.   

 
Ms. Muggeo explained that the Ledge Light Health District uses the Opioid 
Settlement Funding they receive in coordination with; and to boost other funding 
they receive. She stated the NLC CARES Program was developed about ten-years 
ago in collaboration with Community Partners, including Alliance for Living. She 
stated that this was a multi-faceted approach to address the overdose epidemic in 
Southeastern Connecticut.  
 
Ms. Muggeo went on to explain that the center piece of NLC CARES was the Team 
of Navigators who were a specialized community health workers who draw from 
their own life experiences with substance use disorder to engage with community 
members where they are and to walk that road with them and connect them with the 
resources that would help them achieve their individual  health goals.  She stated  
NLC CARES has been recognized at both the State and National Level, noting that 
they have been successful in connecting people with evidence-based treatment for 
substance abuse disorder, which was the use of medication. She stated that there was 
a lot of stigmas associated with using medication to address substance abuse 
disorder.  
 
Ms. Muggeo stated that there was a whole host of efforts that happen to support 
people with substance abuse disorder, noting that they support a number of people in 
Ledyard through NLC CARES. However, she stated that they were able to do that 
with these additional grant funds. She stated that Ledge Light Health District was 
successful with their Five for Five Vap Program a few years ago using another Grant 



AS/rm  Finance Committee –September 3, 2025 
  Page 3 of 19  

Program that ended a few years ago. She stated receiving additional funding to 
invigorate that program to look at  recovery from more than one Lense and to work 
with some of the churches in Ledyard would be great.  
 

 Provided Emergency Kit Boxes containing Naloxone/Narcan that were initially 
located at the Town Green and the Gales Ferry Community Center.  However, Ms. 
Mansfield explained due temperature controls the Emergency Kit Boxes were moved 
from indoors to the Ledyard Senior Cetner, and the Library.  

 
Ms. Muggeo explained that the science supports the use of the Emergency Kit 
Boxes, noting that Ledge Light Health District would appreciate the efforts of their 
Local Legislators to update the State Statutes to allow the Emergency Kit Boxes to 
be redeployed to outside locations.  Ms. Mansfield stated in the meantime they were 
hoping to provide Emergency Kit Boxes at businesses such Job Lot in Gales Ferry, 
Family Dollar, etc. where the information and Emergency Kits could be easily 
available.  
 

 Media Campaigns on local radio stations such as 106.5 in Ledyard Center 
 
 
Ms. Mansfield stated with additional funding Ledge Light Health District would 
continue trainings and focus more on the business community and churches and 
providing Naloxone/Narcan trainings to these groups.  
 

Councilor Saccone stated should the town provide additional Opioid Settlement Funding 
to the Ledyard Prevention Coalition that he would ask that they include the Ledyard 
Center Fire Company and Gales Ferry Fire Company in Naloxone/Narcan trainings. He 
noted although emergency responders were trained under the Offices of Emergency 
Medical Services State Statutes; however, he stated that there may be something Ledge 
Light Health District-Ledyard Prevention Coalition may have that would increase the 
Fire Department’s awareness when they respond to emergency calls.  
 
Ms. Muggeo stated the State of Connecticut has used some of the State’s Opioid 
Settlement Funding to staff the Safe Spot Hotline which was  started by that Steven 
Murray who was a National Leader in Overdose Prevention. She explained that Mr. 
Murray was a overdose survivor and trained certified paramedic. She stated that Mr. 
Murray’s training program “Caring for People Who Use Drugs” has been certified by 
Connecticut’s Office of Medical Emergency Services (OMES) and offers Emergency 
Medical Service (EMS) Providers Continuing Education Credits. She noted the Program 
helps Emergency Services Providers: (1) Understand what was happening with different 
contaminates in the drug supply; (2) How to provide the best care to the people in the 
community;  and  (3) Leave Behind Program, which was now authorized in Connecticut. 
She stated there may be a opportunity for neighboring towns such as Ledyard, 
Stonington, and North Stonington to share the cost and host a Caring for People Who 
Use Drugs”  Training Program that would be centrally located. Councilor Saccone asked 
that Ms. Muggeo contact both the Fire Chief to discuss their interest in the Training 
Program, noting that the Fire Company’s have both Volunteer and Paid Career Staff. 
Ms. Muggeo stated if the town’s could combine funds that they may be able to offer two 
training sessions (day time and evening) to make it accessible to more people.  
 
 



AS/rm  Finance Committee –September 3, 2025 
  Page 4 of 19  

Councilor Saccone questioned Ledyard’s National Opioid Settlement Fund Balance. 
Mayor Allyn stated the Account had an unencumbered balance of $117,201 noting that 
there was currently an open Purchase Order to Ledge Light Health District/Ledyard 
Prevention Coalition that had about $7,700 balance. Ms. Muggeo stated the reason the 
Purchase Order still had some funds remaining was because they were able to use other 
funding sources to purchase Naloxone/Narcan Kits. 
 
Councilor Ryan stated when Ledyard Prevention Coalition appealed to the Finance 
Committee on June 5, 2023 they provided a detailed cost proposal, noting that the 
information that was provided for tonight’s meeting only included a dollar amount of 
$60,000  to be used over a twelve-month period; however, it did not provide a line-by-
line breakdown of how the funding would be used. He stated the reason he was asking 
for a breakdown of the costs  was because the Town Council made some adjustments to 
the $40,000 proposal reducing the number of Naloxone/Narcan Emergency Kits and 
removing the Wellness Dog reducing the town’s funding contribution to  $36,100. 
Therefore, he stated having some clarity on how the funding would be used would be 
helpful, noting that they were not trying to micro-manage Ledyard Prevention Coalition, 
but that they would like to see how the money would be used to help their community. 
Ms. Muggeo questioned whether their proposal of $60,000 would be something the 
Town Council would entertain. Councilor Ryan stated although he could not speak for 
the Town Council that he did not think $60,000 was outside their realm, noting that the 
town has the funding.  
 
Councilor Buhle stated to-date the Town Council has disbursed the National Opioid 
Settlement Funding to support local Organizations as follows: 
 $36,100 to the Ledyard Prevention Coalition - September 27, 2023;  
 $10,000 to Community Speaks Out - October 23, 2024;  
 $10,000 to Connecticut Recovery Support – January 15, 2025. 
 Up-to $12,500 to support the Fiscal Year 2025/2026 administration of the DARE 

Program in Ledyard Public Schools – April 9,  2025 
 
Therefore, Councilor Buhle questioned whether the National Opioid Settlement Fund 
balance in the amount of $ $117,201 included all of the approved disbursements. Mayor 
Allyn stated the $117,201 balance has taken into consideration all of the approved 
disbursements to-date. He stated this fiscal year (fy 26/26) the Town has received an 
additional $38,000 to-date. He stated the town recently received notification that three or 
four manufactures would be settling, noting that the Town would continue to receive 
National Opioid Settlement Funding though the year 2034. He stated the Federal 
Government has been pushing that the Municipalities work to get the National Opioid 
Settlement Funding out into the community for Opioid Prevention and Recovery 
purposes.  
 
Ledge Light Health District Director of Health Jennifer Muggeo, Director of Health 
addressed the $60,000 proposal which was $20,000 proposed increase from their June 5, 
2023 stating that the increase was mainly to increase the staff time that would be 
allocated. She stated the Staff for the Ledyard Prevention Coalition Program was 
previously funded by the Federal Drug Communities Grant, which has reached the end 
of its ten-year cycle. She stated because Ledge Light Health District believed it was 
important to continue the Ledyard Prevention Coalition Program that funding was 
needed to pay for the staff to facilitate the Program, organize activities, work with the 
schools to determine the best interventions, and to work with other organizations to 



AS/rm  Finance Committee –September 3, 2025 
  Page 5 of 19  

identify opportunities for resources and other funding sources, etc. Therefore, she stated 
when the Finance Committee receives the Ledge Light Health District – Ledyard 
Prevention Collation Opioid Settlement Funding Proposal they will see that the cost for 
Staffing has increased, noting that it was due to the Federal Drug Communities Grant 
ending.  
 
Councilor Saccone stated that he would expect the other Organizations that Ledyard has 
provided National Opioid Settlement Funds come back for additional funding at a later 
time.  
 
Mayor Allyn stated that the Town was required to submit a Report to the Federal 
Government on how the funding  was allocated such as: Prevention; Training; Patient 
Care; etc. Therefore, he stated that the Town needed to continue to work with the 
Organizations that have received funding to obtain their reports on how they used the 
funding.  
 
Councilor Buhle stated although she was comfortable with the Ledge Light Health 
District – Ledyard Prevention Collation $60,000 proposal that she would like to see the 
line-item expenditure before the Finance Committee acted to allocate the National 
Opioid Settlement Funding. 
 
Ms. Muggeo stated that she would send a formal Proposal with the line-item 
expenditures for the next Finance Committee Meeting for consideration. 
 
The Finance Committee thanked Ms. Mansfield and Ms. Muggeo for attending tonight’s 
meeting 
 
Ms. Mansfield and Ms. Muggeo left the meeting at 5:17 p.m.  
 
 

RESULT: DISCUSSED                                            Next Meeting 9/17/2025 : 5:00 p.m.  
 
 

V. REVIEW AND APPROVAL OF PRIOR MEETING MINUTES  
 
MOTION to approve the Finance Committee Minutes as follows: 
Regular Meeting Minutes of August 6, 2025 
Special Joint Town Council & Board of Education Minutes of August 20, 2025  

 Moved by Councilor Buhle, seconded by Councilor Ryan 
VOTE: 3 – 0 Approved and so declared   

 
 
VI. FINANCE DIRECTOR'S REPORT – Mayor Allyn noted that Finance Director Matthew Bonin was 

not present this evening.  
 

VII. FINANCIAL REPORTS  
Mayor Allyn noted that Finance Director Matthew Bonin provide the following Year to Date 
Revenues and Expenditure Reports: 

 
 
 
 



AS/rm  Finance Committee –September 3, 2025 
  Page 6 of 19  

 
 

 Budget versus Actuals – Expenditures – August 27, 2025 
 

 Land Use Legal Accounts $75,634 has been expended which was at 756% over the 
budgeted amount. – Mayor Allyn explained that the town had a couple pending 
lawsuits for Subdivisions; and the Gales Ferry Intermodal (Cashman – former 
Dow/Styrenics Property). He stated these legal fees would continue to mount up.  
 
Councilor Ryan stated that the Town Council authorize the Land Use Department to 
overspend the Legal Fees Account. Mayor Allyn stated that Councilor Ryan was 
correct, however, the legal bills continue to come in. He stated one of the three legal 
disputes was nearing resolution; outside of further court proceedings.   

 
 

 Budget versus Actuals – Revenues – August 27,  2025 
 

 Vo-Ag – Agri-Science Grant (ASTE) – Councilor Buhle noted the Vo-Ag – Agri-
Science  revenue received to date was at 52% of the amount budgeted. She stated 
because the State changed the funding stream for Agricultural Science Program by 
removing the town’s tuition-based system to relying on State Grant funding that the 
Town would be receiving an increase in the amount of $68,315 in the Agri-Science 
Grant Revenue from the State. Therefore, she stated after speaking with School 
Superintendent Hartling that she suggested they increase the Agri-Science Grant 
Revenue by $68,315 in the Fiscal Year 2025/2026 Budget. She questioned whether 
there was a mechanism in the budget for when the tuition revenues comes in lower 
than budgeted and the revenues come in higher than the amount budgeted, noting 
that New Business Items #2 & #3 was requesting that the surplus ASTE Revenues be 
used for Capital Expenses; however all of this does not line up with the expenditures.  
 
Mayor Allyn stated that they need to discuss the forecasting of revenues in preparing 
the annual budget. He stated when the Board of Education’s revenues do not meet 
the projection that the Board of Education’s assumption was that the Town would 
cover their revenue deficits. However, he stated that when the Board of Education’s 
revenues exceed the projection the Board of Education expects that the money be 
given to them. He stated that they cannot have their cake and eat it to, noting that 
Finance Director Matthew Bonin included comments on the Legislative Files that 
accompany New Business Items # 2 & #3 that speak to this scenario. However, he 
stated the Agri-Science/Vo-Ag Grant Funding had to be used specifically for the 
Agri-Science Program and that the Board of Education uses the additional ASTE 
Grant Funding for Capital Purchases/Projects for the Agri-Science Program. He 
stated that he agreed with Councilor Buhle’s comments, noting that this was 
something that should be looked at.  
 
Councilor Ryan stated that the projected/forecasted revenues should be fairly close, 
noting that when the revenues from any grant source were understated that it inflates 
the amount requested from the taxpayers. He stated that this was part of what they 
were arguing about during the Fiscal Year 2025/2026 Budget Preparation, noting 
that what they were trying to limit the exposure to the taxpayers.  
 



AS/rm  Finance Committee –September 3, 2025 
  Page 7 of 19  

Councilor Buhle stated the point she was trying to make was to report anticipated 
revenue accurately to make sure they were not charging the taxpayers and pocketing 
the surplus. She stated the goal was not to buy a bunch of capital stuff after the fact, 
because “Surprise, we have more money”, noting that it was like the taxpayers 
overpaying their taxes all year, and then being really excited about a refund.  
 
Councilor Ryan questioned the reason there was such a difference in the ASTE 
Grant Funding. Councilor Buhle explained that the State has changed the funding 
stream for Agricultural Science Program explaining they removed them from a 
Tuition-Based system to relying on State Grant funding. She stated that the School 
now had to charge 58% less for the Agri-Science Tuition this fiscal year, which was 
a loss of $360,000 less in Tuition than budgeted, however, she stated they received 
$658,000 more in State Agri-Science Grant funding because the State was working 
to subsidize the difference with Grant Funding. Therefore, she stated they had a delta 
of $300,000 extra in Grant Funding, which should have been moved back to the 
operating budget to make up the loss of $360,000 in Tuition Revenue, that the Town 
paid. Councilor Saccone stated what Councilor Buhle described was what Finance 
Director Matthew Bonin has been  saying for several years. Councilor Buhle stated 
that they should be adding the Tuition Received with the ASTE Grant Funding for 
the total revenue received. Councilor Ryan stated that they would have had a delta 
net positive.  Mayor Allyn stated that the ASTE Grant Revenue was at 177.5%. 
Councilor Ryan stated that Finance Director Matthew Bonin would have the year 
over year trend, noting that it would be interesting to see whether the ASTE Grant 
Funding has been understated. Councilor Saccone  noted that the Town could not 
rely on what was  coming from the State.  
 

III. OLD BUSINESS  
 

1. Continued discussion regarding potential uses for the funding received from the National 
Opioid Settlement Payments.  

 
 MOTION to recommend the Town Council accept the Ledge Light Health District-

Ledyard Prevention Coalition proposal;  and to allocate funding  from Account # 
0810201-58206-24206 ( National Opioid Settlement Funding) to continue to support 
programs for opioid abatement;  expanding access to opioid use disorder prevention, 
intervention, treatment, and recovery options, etc.  

 
Councilor Saccone noted that the Finance Committee received a presentation from 
Ledge Light Health District – Ledyard Prevention Collation Ms. Mansfield and Ms. 
Muggeo earlier this evening. He stated they would be preparing a proposal to request the 
Town allocate $60,000 from the National Opioid Settlement Funding to continue their 
programs and activities related to the Opioid Prevention, Recovery, Wellness Programs, 
Narcan training; as well as providing Narcan Emergency Kits at selected locations in 
town. He stated that this item would be deferred to the Finance Committee’s September 
17, 2025 meeting.  
 
Councilor Buhle stated with the new school year starting that she would be interested to 
see then move forward with the DARE Program (Drug Abuse Resistance Education). 
 

RESULT: NO ACTION                                           Next Meeting 9/17/2025 : 5:00 p.m.  
 



AS/rm  Finance Committee –September 3, 2025 
  Page 8 of 19  

 
 

2. Continued discussion regarding the status and possible changes to Capital Improvement 
Plan (CIP) and Capital Non-Recurring (CNR) Fund based on the American Rescue Act 
Funding (ARPA) and the process to approve ARPA Projects and expend ARPA 
Funding. 

 
Mayor Allyn, III, stated Finance Director Matthew Bonin provided an updated ARPA 
Projects spreadsheet for tonight’s meeting. He stated the Town completed about 53 
projects using the $4,327,000 Federal American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) funding 
Ledyard received. He noted the many different projects they were able to do around 
town that ranged from critical infrastructure projects such as the Ledyard Center Sewer 
Line Extension project, which when completed would allow for responsible economic 
development, improvements for American Disability Act (ADA) access, to supporting 
our Regional Agency Partners, to facility maintenance projects, preservation of 
historical landmarks and park improvements, software upgrades and many others.  
 
Mayor Allyn continued by providing the status of the ARPA Funding as follows:  
 

 Ledyard Center Sewer Line Extension Project – Mayor Allyn stated the Sewer Line 
Extension Projects were coming in as projected. He stated the deficit they had earlier 
was now $186,146.90 to the positive. He stated those funds would be allocated to the 
Undesignated Account to reimburse the account for expenditures that were paid out of 
that account.  

 
 Juliet W. Long Playscape Solid Surface – Mayor Allyn stated the town was waiting for 

the $50,000 Solid Surface invoice. Councilor Buhle stated the playscape and solid 
surface have been completed and she noted with the start of this school year that the kids 
were using the new inclusive playscape and solid surface. She stated a Ribbon Cutting 
has been scheduled for September 16, 2025. 
 

 Smart Projectors for the Board of Education  - Mayor Allyn stated that they were 
waiting to receive the $14,999 invoice for the Smart Projectors that cost $3,000 each. 
 

 Multi-Use Pathway – Mayor Allyn stated that they were waiting for some finishing work 
along the Multi-Use Pathway from Ledyard Center to the High School. He explained 
that some of the steel pipes that were the curb stop for public water supply needed to be 
cut down to grade. The Finance Committee and Mayor Allyn noted the amount of use 
the Multi-Use Pathway has been getting, noting it has been a positive addition to for the 
community.  

 

RESULT: DISCUSSED                                            Next Meeting 9/17/2025 : 5:00 p.m.  
 
 

3. Continued discussion regarding potential grant opportunities. 
 

Councilor Buhle stated that she was listening to a Podcast today, noting that she learned 
about a Bluebird Philanthropy Organization that offers grants to foster innovation in 
small towns and cities across the country to encourage towns to try to do things 



AS/rm  Finance Committee –September 3, 2025 
  Page 9 of 19  

differently. She stated that they would help small towns and cities to PILOT things to 
test to see if they work, however, she stated if the ideas did work, that the towns and 
cities would have to pay to implement the programs themselves. She stated that she 
would be doing more research on Bluebird Philanthropy Organization, and to look for 
more opportunities for the town to grown and do things better. .   

 

RESULT: DISCUSSED                                            Next Meeting 9/17/2025 : 5:00 p.m.  
 
 
 

 
4. Regular Quarterly Joint Finance Committee Meetings between the Town Council and 

Board of Education. 
 
Councilor Saccone stated at their  first Quarterly Joint Finance Committee Meeting of 
the Town Council and Board of Education that was held on August 20, 2025 they agreed 
with the November 4, 2025 Election that they should leave the scheduling of the next 
Quarterly Meeting for the new Committees to decide. 
 
Councilor Ryan commented on the August 20, 2025 Quarterly Meeting noting that it 
was very long. He stated although they had some good conversations that he did not 
sense that there was a shared sacrifice by the Board of Education. He stated that he 
hoped when they get back to the table that there would be more willing approach to 
compromise, and discuss what was really needed, and what they cannot do without; 
noting that it was town-wide budget; not just a General Government Budget and a Board 
of Education Budget; but that it was everything.  He stated that he did not appreciate the 
reception to his comment that they should not be creating new recurring expenses. He 
stated the Town Council Finance Committee needed to make sure that the Board of 
Education Finance Committee comes to the table ready to make hard decision, noting 
that they have proved that it can be done on the General Government side of the budget.  
 
Councilor Saccone stated that he agreed with Councilor Ryan’s comments, however, he 
noted the number of unfunded mandates the Board of Education was required to provide 
for the children. Councilor Ryan stated the Town Council had the responsibility of all 
residents, including the students, the elderly, everybody. He stated there was a lot of 
things that they cannot fund and that they did not fund on the General Government side 
of the budget; therefore, he stated that he would like to see everyone come to the table 
ready to have these types of conversations.  
 
Councilor Buhle stated that she did not support a bifurcated budget; however, she stated 
that she does support a transparently presented budget that allowed the taxpayers to 
understand the delineation of their tax dollars. She stated when the Town Council or 
Board of Education makes choices to reduce Board of Education Capital Expenditures 
that those reductions should be reflected on the Board of Education’s side of the budget 
ledger. She went on to state that she also supported that when things increase that they 
cannot control such as Healthcare Expenses, that those increases were reflected on the 
appropriate side of the budget ledger; so they present the actual costs to the residents for 
them to understand the actual costs without misconstruing the numbers; and that they 
explain that some expenses were moved to the appropriate side of the budget ledger and 
that it did not actually increase by 30%.  She stated the budget has to be transparent and 
honest and understandable to those who do not spend hours and hours in meetings like 
they do. She stated in the year 2025 that every pdf document that was uploaded to the 



AS/rm  Finance Committee –September 3, 2025 
  Page 10 of 19  

website should be searchable, readable and easy to understand. She stated she should not 
have to look up every Munis Object Code to find out what School and Department the 
expense line was for. She stated that it should say “Gales Ferry School Elementary”; or 
“Teacher’s Salaries  Grade 6 (4 Teachers)”  She stated that she understands that 
Ledyard was not an absorbatively funded School District and that they do very well with 
what they have. However, she stated that it was valid to show that when they were 
making budget adjustments and that those adjustments were shown on the appropriate 
side of the budget ledger. She stated for her, the most important thing was that the 
budget be presented accurately. She stated there was a separation between the Board of 
Education and the General Government, however, they were one town with one set of 
taxpayers and that they should all want to work together. She stated they often hear that 
they cannot use the schools or the gym for a town function for various reasons, including 
that it costs money, noting that it then becomes a big problem, stating that they were all 
town facilities, and that it should not be that difficult. She stated that she believed that 
there were opportunities for the General Government and Board of Education to work 
together to eliminate redundancies and expenditures.  
 
Councilor Ryan stated he thought the point of the Joint Finance Committee Quarterly 
Meetings was to reduce what was perceived as the Throw Over the Wall Approach. He 
stated the way many municipalities prepare their budgets, was for the Board of 
Education to develop a budget that they throw over to the Town Council. He stated the 
Town Council then becomes the bad people and make decisions, because they represent 
all of the town residents,  noting that it was not an enviable position. He stated the Board 
of Education only represents the students and the students’ parents in the School 
District, noting that the Town Council represents all the people, which included the 
students and the students’ parents in the School District as well as all the taxpayers who 
do not have students in the school system. He stated he hoped that the next people who 
will be serving on the Finance Committee in the next term will be better educated about 
the budget process for the Board of Education and how they arrived at their budget 
before they finalize their budget and submit it to the Mayor.  
 
 

RESULT: DISCUSSED                                            Next Meeting 9/17/2025 : 5:00 p.m.  
 

 
5. Any other Old Business proper to come before the Committee.- None.  

 
 

VIII. NEW BUSINESS  
 
1. MOTION to recommend the Town Council appropriate $3,634.21 to Account 

#21020301-57300-G0015 (Fire Marshall - New Equipment - State Grant). 
 
In addition, authorize the expenditure of up to $3,634.21 to purchase the Emergency 
Operations Center (EOC) Server Rack as part of the upgrades to Emergency Operations 
Center (EOC) .  
 
The funding source for this project is the Town of Ledyard’s FY 2026 Nuclear Safety 
Emergency Program Funding Allocation. 
 
 
 



AS/rm  Finance Committee –September 3, 2025 
  Page 11 of 19  

 
Moved by Councilor Buhle seconded by Councilor Ryan 
Discussion: Administrator of Emergency Management/Fire Marshal Jim Mann explained 
that over the past few years Ledyard has been using the  Nuclear Safety Emergency 
Program Funding (NESP) to upgrade the equipment at the Emergency Operations Center 
that  was located in the lower level of the High School which included the purchase of a 
new server. He stated about eight months ago a sewer line broke at the High School; and 
that they were lucky it missed the new server by about two-feet. He stated that MIS 
Director Justin Dube strongly recommended that the EOC purchase a Server Cabinet to 
prevent the servers from getting destroyed. He stated that the Town would need to 
purchase the Server Cabinet and submit the paid invoice to the State to receive the grant 
funding reimbursement. He stated to date they have spent about $10,000 from the 
Nuclear Safety Emergency Program Funding (NESP).  
 
 
Mayor Allyn, III, stated that Ledyard was awarded $22,500 from the Nuclear Safety 
Emergency Program Funding (NESP).  

VOTE: 3– 0 Approved and so declared    
 

RESULT: APPROVE TO RECOMMEND 3 – 0  
MOVER:               Jessica Buhle, Town Councilor 
SECONDER:         Tim Ryan, Town Councilor   
AYES:       Jessica Buhle, Tim Ryan, Tony Saccone  
  
The Finance Committee thanked Mr. Mann for attending tonight’s meeting. 
Mr. Mann left the meeting at 5:43 p.m. 

 
 
 

2. MOTION to recommend the Town Council appropriate and transfer $250,636 from 
Account #10188210-59300 (Transferred Funds) to Account #2250101-49002 (BOE 
CNR Transfers In) 
 
In addition, appropriate $250,636 to Account #22570101-58261 (BOE CNR Ag-
Science). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



AS/rm  Finance Committee –September 3, 2025 
  Page 12 of 19  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



AS/rm  Finance Committee –September 3, 2025 
  Page 13 of 19  

 
 
 
 
 
 



AS/rm  Finance Committee –September 3, 2025 
  Page 14 of 19  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Moved by Councilor Ryan, seconded by Councilor Saccone 
Discussion: Mayor Allyn, III noted  the Board of Education’s letter dated July 29, 2025 and 
received on August 6, 2025 included a list of  capital items that the ASTE Grant Funding 
would be used to purchase. 
 
Councilor Ryan stated as discussed earlier this evening (see page above page 6-7) that this 
highlights the need to forecast their revenues more accurately, noting that he understands 
that the State made some changes to the Agri-Science/Vo-Ag Program Funding this year. He 
stated when they have a revenue that comes in with a 10% difference that they were in the 
ball park. However, he stated a difference of $250,636 in revenues was far off the forecasted 
projection.  
 
 
 
 



AS/rm  Finance Committee –September 3, 2025 
  Page 15 of 19  

 
 
Councilor Buhle noted as she previously mentioned this evening that the State changed the 
funding stream for Agricultural Science Program explaining they removed them from a 
Tuition-Based system to relying on State Grant funding. 
 
Councilor Ryan stated that he was not going to argue if the State was going to give the town 
more money. However, he stated that perhaps their State Legislators could have helped the 
town understand that the State would be making a change in the funding stream for 
Agricultural Science Program earlier in the budget process.  
 
Councilor Buhle stated after the townspeople turned down the Fiscal Year 2025/2026 
Budget the first time that State Senator Cathy Osten shared a spreadsheet with her that 
showed all of the State’s allocations, which was the reason she proposed increasing the 
Agri-Science-Vo-Ag Grant funding in the Fiscal Year 2025/2026 Budget. She stated 
because the State’s budget runs concurrently with the town’s budget that it was difficult 
for Ledyard to project State/Grant revenues. Councilor Ryan noted that Councilor Buhle 
made his point that some of the State’s revenue numbers were available during their 
budget deliberation work. Councilor Buhle stated that the information she received from 
State Senator Cathy Osten was after the May 20, 2025 Budget Referendum failed; and 
the State’s budget was still not approved at that time. Councilor Ryan stated although the 
State Budget may not have been approved at that time; that there was a number that may 
have been helpful to the town so they would know about what they could expect. He 
stated the more accurately they can project the revenues the more accurate they would 
be able to be in terms of the tax burden for their taxpayers.   
 
Councilor Buhle went on to note that the next Agenda Item was to address additional 
Impact Aid Funding and she commented that they could not make plans for the funding 
expected from the Federal Government such as the Impact Aid Funding. Councilor 
Saccone noted for the town to receive the Federal Impact Aid Funding that they have to 
rely on parents to fill out the forms for their children.  
 
Councilor Ryan requested clarification as to whether these additional funds would be 
allocated to the Board of Education’s Capital Fund. Mayor Allyn explained that the 
additional $250,636 ASTE Grant Funding would be allocated to the Board of 
Education’s Agri-Science-Vo-Ag Program to be used to purchase the list of items that 
accompanied Superintendent Hartling’s July 29, 2025 letter (see list above). He went on 
to explain that the Board of Education was also requesting the additional $157,133 that 
was received  from the Impact Aid Grant be allocated to their Capital Account, which as 
Councilor Buhle noted was Item #3 on tonight’s Agenda.  

VOTE: 3– 0 Approved and so declared    
 

RESULT: APPROVE TO RECOMMEND 3 – 0  
MOVER:               Tim  Ryan, Town Councilor 
SECONDER:          Tony Saccone, Town Councilor   
AYES:       Jessica Buhle, Tim Ryan, Tony Saccone  
 

3. MOTION to recommend Town Council  appropriate and transfer $157,133 from 
Account #10188210-59300 (Transferred Funds) to Account #22570101-58250 (BOE 
CNR Reserve Fund); 
 



AS/rm  Finance Committee –September 3, 2025 
  Page 16 of 19  

In addition, appropriate $157,133 to Account #225670101-58250 (BOE CNR Reserve 
Fund) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Moved by Councilor Buhle seconded by Councilor Ryan 
Discussion: Mayor Allyn stated that every year the Board of Education requests that the 
additional funding received from the Impact Aid Grant be allocated to their Capital Fund 
because they had capital needs that were not fulfilled. However, he stated that the General 
Government also had capital needs that were not fulfilled.  
 
Councilor Buhle stated last year the Town Council asked the Board of Education to provide 
a list of the Capital Projects that would be addressed with the additional Impact Aid 
Funding. Mayor Allyn noted that Superintendent Hartling’s July 29, 2025 letter included 
the list (see above) of items that the Board of Education would use the additional 
$157,133 for. However, he stated there were a number of projects such as the Bird 
Nesting Remediation; and Sewer Line Repair that was already funded in the Fiscal Year 
2025/2026 Budget. Councilor Buhle agreed with Mayor Allyn’s observation, noting that 
the Boiler/Heating System Repairs, were also included in the Fiscal Year 2025/2026 
Budget.  
 
Councilor Buhle stated the Fiscal Year 2025/2026 Budget that was posted on the town’s 
website only lists the dollar amount for the Board of Education’s Capital Projects, noting 
that the list of projects were not available.  
 
 
 
 



AS/rm  Finance Committee –September 3, 2025 
  Page 17 of 19  

 
 
Councilor Ryan stated that based on their discussion this evening that he would like 
clarity before the Finance Committee acted on this request. 
 
MOTION to Table the  
MOTION to recommend Town Council appropriate and transfer $157,133 from Account 
#10188210-59300 (Transferred Funds) to Account #22570101-58250 (BOE CNR 
Reserve Fund); 
 
In addition, appropriate $157,133 to Account #225670101-58250 (BOE CNR Reserve 
Fund) 
Moved by Councilor Buhle, seconded by Councilor Saccone 
 

VOTE: 3– 0 Approved to Table    
 

RESULT: APPROVE TO TABLE  3 – 0  
MOVER:               Jessica Buhle, Town Councilor 
SECONDER:         Tony Saccone, Town Councilor   
AYES:       Jessica Buhle, Tim Ryan, Tony Saccone  
 
 

4. MOTION to recommend Town Council authorize the expenditure of up to $25,000 from 
account #21090305-58915 CNR Undesignated to hire a consultant to assist with cost 
segregation analysis and form 990-T filings in order to secure investment tax credits 
available under IRC section 6417. 

 
In addition, upon receipt of said tax credit, restore funding in the same amount to the 
Undesignated line in CNR. 
 
Moved by Councilor Ryan seconded by Councilor Buhle 
Discussion: Mayor Allyn stated the town’s Auditor CliftonLarsonAllen, LLP., 
recommended that Ledyard conduct a Cost Segregation Analysis for the Solar Arrays on the 
School Buildings to receive tax credits which would cover the 38% non-reimbursable 
portion from the State for the cost of the Solar Array Panels . He stated the town would 
receive about $500,000 from the tax credits, which they would use to lower the amount of 
money the town would need to borrow in their final financing for the School Projects.   
 
Councilor Saccone stated he was in-favor of conducting the Cost Segregation Analysis for 
the Solar Arrays. However, he questioned the timing noting that the federal government was 
sunsetting the tax credits for Solar Projects. Mayor Allyn stated that they were trying to get 
this Cost Segregation Analysis for the Solar Arrays done and submitted before the tax credit 
program sunsets. He went on to explain that the Trump Administration was requiring that 
the new Solar Array Systems be made in America. He stated the Solar Array System has not 
been installed on the Gales Ferry School yet, because of the delays in completing the roof 
replacement; therefore, he stated they were not certain if the Gales Ferry School Solar Array 
would qualify for the tax credits. However, he stated the town has been assured that the 
other school solar array system qualified for the tax credits .  

VOTE: 3– 0 Approved and so declared    
 



AS/rm  Finance Committee –September 3, 2025 
  Page 18 of 19  

RESULT: APPROVE TO RECOMMEND 3 – 0  
MOVER:               Tim Ryan, Town Councilor 
SECONDER:         Jessica Buhle Town Councilor   
AYES:         Jessica Buhle, Tim Ryan, Tony Saccone  
 
 

5. MOTION to recommend the Town Council grant a Bid Waiver to Wastewater Services 
Inc. DBA Skips Wastewater Service due to receiving fewer than the required three bids 
in response to Bid #2026-01 (Thickened Sludge Solids Removal) in accordance with 
Ordinance #200-001 (rev 1) “An Ordinance for Purchasing”  
Moved by Councilor Buhle seconded by Councilor Ryan 
Discussion: Mayor Allyn, III, explained the process for the Rotary Drum Thickener at the 
Wastewater Facility on Town Farm Road. He stated that periodically the Thickened Sludge 
Solids have to be removed from the Rotary Drum to continue to operate the facility . He 
stated the Water Pollution Control Authority solicited bids for this work; however, only 
two bids were received, noting that Wastewater Services Inc. DBA Skips Wastewater 
Service was the low bid.  
 
Councilor Saccone questioned whether the Wastewater Facility has used Skips 
Wastewater Service in the past. Mayor Allyn stated that they have used this company in 
the past.   

VOTE: 3– 0 Approved and so declared    
 

RESULT: APPROVE TO RECOMMEND 3 – 0  
MOVER:               Jessica Buhle, Town Councilor 
SECONDER:         Tim Ryan, Town Councilor   
AYES:       Jessica Buhle, Tim Ryan, Tony Saccone  
 
 

6. MOTION to recommend the Town Council appropriate up-to to $1,500 from Account 
#21090305-58920 (CNR Acquisition of Open Space); and authorize the Mayor to hire a 
professional firm to appraise 480R Shewville Road. 
Moved by Councilor Ryan, seconded by Councilor Buhle 
Discussion: Mayor Allyn, III, explained in 1994 the town purchased property and 
constructed the Loftus Well Field on Shewville Road when the town created its own public 
water system to supply water to the Highlands area, when their wells dried up. He stated 
after the town connected to Groton Utilities Water Supply the Lofts Wellfield was 
abandoned,  the 1,500 square foot steel building  they built on the property was cleaned out, 
and the wells were filled in.  
 
Mayor Allyn went on to explain when the town purchased the property from the Loftus 
Family it included deed restrictions, noting that the property could only be used for water 
storage tank. Therefore, he stated because the town cannot use the property for any other 
purpose, it would like to obtain a professional appraisal of the property to understand the 
value of the parcel. He stated for full disclosure that the neighbor, who sold the property to 
the town, was interested in buying the property back from the town. He stated the 11-acre 
parcel that the Loftus Wellfield was built on was originally part of the Loftus’ Family’s 
Farm and they were interested in reacquiring the property. Therefore, he stated before the 
town entertained an offer, that it would be prudent to know what a professional appraiser 
thought the property was worth.   
 
 
 



AS/rm  Finance Committee –September 3, 2025 
  Page 19 of 19  

 
Councilor Buhle questioned what the town purchased the property for in 1994. Mayor Allyn 
stated the town paid $275,000 for the property and noted the Deed included the following 
language: “Said premises shall be used solely for the purpose for the construction and 
maintaining municipal water well sites and related equipment, machinery, structures, piping 
and utilities”. He stated the Town Attorney explained that because the Town free act and 
deed entered into that restriction; therefore, the town cannot use the property for any other 
purpose, noting that town cannot even store other equipment in the building on the property. 
He stated once the original property owner took ownership of the property again that they 
could undo the Deed Restriction, should they choose to. 
 
Mayor Allyn continued by explaining that once they receive the appraised value of the 
property and decide that they want to move ahead with selling the property that he would 
bring to the Town Council the map and related information, noting that the front of the 
property was on the Whitford Brook. He stated because the usage was so restricted that no 
one could use the property for anything, therefore, he stated selling the surplus property 
would be an opportunity for the town to recapture some money and maybe help to do 
facilitate some capital projects.  

VOTE: 3– 0 Approved and so declared    
 

RESULT: APPROVE TO RECOMMEND 3 – 0  
MOVER:               Tim Ryan, Town Councilor 
SECONDER:          Jessica Buhle, Town Councilor   
AYES:       Jessica Buhle, Tim Ryan, Tony Saccone  
 
 

7. Any other New Business proper to come before the Committee. – None.  
 
 
X. ADJOURNMENT 
 

Councilor Buhle moved the meeting be adjourned, seconded by Councilor Saccone   
VOTE: 3 - 0 Approved and so declared, the meeting was adjourned at 6:05 p.m.   
 

      Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
  

      Anthony Saccone, Sr.  
      Committee Chairman   

     Finance Committee  
 

 


